
 

Page 1 

 

 
AGENDA  
 
Meeting: Eastern Area Planning Committee 

Place: Assembly Room - Devizes Town Hall, Devizes, SN10 1BN 

Date: Thursday 5 October 2023 

Time: 3.00 pm 

 

 
Please direct any enquiries on this Agenda to Matt Hitch of Democratic Services, 
County Hall, Bythesea Road, Trowbridge, direct line 01225 718059 or email 
matthew.hitch@wiltshire.gov.uk 
 
Press enquiries to Communications on direct lines 01225 713114/713115. 
 
This Agenda and all the documents referred to within it are available on the Council’s 
website at www.wiltshire.gov.uk  
 

 
Membership: 
 

Cllr Philip Whitehead (Chairman) 
Cllr Paul Oatway QPM (Vice-
Chairman) 
Cllr Dr Brian Mathew 
Cllr Kelvin Nash 
  

Cllr Sam Pearce-Kearney 
Cllr Tony Pickernell 
Cllr Iain Wallis 
Cllr Stuart Wheeler 
 

 

 
Substitutes: 
 

Cllr Mel Jacob 
Cllr Jerry Kunkler 
Cllr Dominic Muns 
Cllr James Sheppard  

 

  
 

Cllr Caroline Thomas 
Cllr Laura Mayes 
Cllr Tamara Reay  

 

http://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/


 

Page 2 

 

Recording and Broadcasting Information 
 

Wiltshire Council may record this meeting for live and/or subsequent broadcast. At the 
start of the meeting, the Chairman will confirm if all or part of the meeting is being 
recorded. The images and sound recordings may also be used for training purposes 
within the Council.  
 
By submitting a statement or question for a meeting you are consenting that you may be 
recorded presenting this and that in any case your name will be made available on the 
public record. The meeting may also be recorded by the press or members of the public.  
 
Any person or organisation choosing to film, record or broadcast any meeting of the 
Council, its Cabinet or committees is responsible for any claims or other liability resulting 
from them so doing and by choosing to film, record or broadcast proceedings they 
accept that they are required to indemnify the Council, its members and officers in 
relation to any such claims or liabilities.  
 
Details of the Council’s Guidance on the Recording and Webcasting of Meetings is 
available on request. Our privacy policy can be found here.  

 
Parking 

 
To find car parks by area follow this link.  
 

Public Participation 
 

Please see the agenda list on following pages for details of deadlines for submission of 
questions and statements for this meeting. 
 
For extended details on meeting procedure, submission and scope of questions and 
other matters, please consult Part 4 of the council’s constitution. 
 
The full constitution can be found at this link.  
 
Our privacy policy is found here. 
 
For assistance on these and other matters please contact the officer named above for 
details 
 

https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fcms.wiltshire.gov.uk%2FecCatDisplay.aspx%3Fsch%3Ddoc%26cat%3D14031&data=04%7C01%7Cbenjamin.fielding%40wiltshire.gov.uk%7C032dd41f93844cfa21f108d8de2a5276%7C5546e75e3be14813b0ff26651ea2fe19%7C0%7C0%7C637503620634060435%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=tgq%2B75eqKuPDwzwOo%2BRqU%2FLEEQ0ORz31mA2irGc07Mw%3D&reserved=0
https://www.wiltshire.gov.uk/parking-devizes
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fcms.wiltshire.gov.uk%2Fecsddisplayclassic.aspx%3Fname%3Dpart4rulesofprocedurecouncil%26id%3D630%26rpid%3D24804339%26path%3D13386&data=04%7C01%7Cbenjamin.fielding%40wiltshire.gov.uk%7C032dd41f93844cfa21f108d8de2a5276%7C5546e75e3be14813b0ff26651ea2fe19%7C0%7C0%7C637503620634070387%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=dYUgbzCKyoh6zLt%2BWs%2F%2B6%2BZcyNNeW%2BN%2BagqSpoOeFaY%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fcms.wiltshire.gov.uk%2Feccatdisplayclassic.aspx%3Fsch%3Ddoc%26cat%3D13386%26path%3D0&data=04%7C01%7Cbenjamin.fielding%40wiltshire.gov.uk%7C032dd41f93844cfa21f108d8de2a5276%7C5546e75e3be14813b0ff26651ea2fe19%7C0%7C0%7C637503620634070387%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=VAosAsVP2frvb%2FDFxP34NHzWIUH60iC2lObaISYA3Pk%3D&reserved=0
https://cms.wiltshire.gov.uk/ecSDDisplay.aspx?NAME=Democracy%20Privacy%20Policy&ID=5980&RPID=33929105


 

Page 3 

 

AGENDA 

 Part I  

 Items to be considered when the meeting is open to the public 

1   Apologies  

 To receive any apologies or substitutions for the meeting. 

2   Minutes of the Previous Meeting (Pages 5 - 12) 

 To approve and sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting held on 7 
September 2023.  

3   Declarations of Interest  

 To receive any declarations of disclosable interests or dispensations granted by 
the Standards Committee. 

4   Chairman's Announcements  

 To receive any announcements through the Chair. 

5   Public Participation  

 The Council welcomes contributions from members of the public.  
 
Statements 
 
Members of the public who wish to speak either in favour or against an 
application or any other item on this agenda are asked to register no later than 
10 minutes before the start of the meeting. If it is on the day of the meeting 
registration should be done in person. 
 
The rules on public participation in respect of planning applications are linked to 
in the Council’s Planning Code of Good Practice. The Chairman will allow up to 
3 speakers in favour and up to 3 speakers against an application, and up to 3 
speakers on any other item on this agenda. Each speaker will be given up to 3 
minutes and invited to speak immediately prior to the item being considered. 
 
Members of the public will have had the opportunity to make representations on 
the planning applications and to contact and lobby their local member and any 
other members of the planning committee prior to the meeting. Lobbying once 
the debate has started at the meeting is not permitted, including the circulation 
of new information, written or photographic which have not been verified by 
planning officers. 
 
Questions 
 
To receive any questions from members of the public or members of the Council 
received in accordance with the constitution which excludes, in particular, 



 

Page 4 

 

questions on non-determined planning applications. 
 
Those wishing to ask questions are required to give notice of any such 
questions in writing to the officer named on the front of this agenda no later than 
5pm on Thursday 28 September 2023 in order to be guaranteed of a written 
response. In order to receive a verbal response questions must be submitted no 
later than 5pm on Monday 2 October 2023. Please contact the officer named on 
the front of this agenda for further advice. Questions may be asked without 
notice if the Chairman decides that the matter is urgent. 
 
Details of any questions received will be circulated to Committee members prior 
to the meeting and made available at the meeting and on the Council’s website. 

6   Planning Appeals and Updates (Pages 13 - 14) 

 To receive details of the completed and pending appeals, and any other updates 
as appropriate. 

 Planning Applications  

 To consider and determine the following planning application. 

7   PL/2023/05818: Boomerang Stables, Crooked Soley, Chilton Foliat, RG17 
0TL (Pages 15 - 34) 

 To re-use a former equestrian barn to create two dwellings, driveways, 
landscaping and related infrastructure. 
 
To erect a stable block within one of the gardens comprising 10 stables, a tack 
room, store and hay room. To erect a barn and garage within the same curtilage 
and to erect a garage within the other curtilage (resubmission of 
PL/2022/08607). 

8   Urgent items  

 Any other items of business which, in the opinion of the Chairman, should be 
taken as a matter of urgency   

 Part II  

 Items during whose consideration it is recommended that the public should be 
excluded because of the likelihood that exempt information would be disclosed 



 
 
 

 
 
Eastern Area Planning Committee 
 

 
MINUTES OF THE EASTERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE MEETING HELD 
ON 7 SEPTEMBER 2023 AT WESSEX ROOM - THE CORN EXCHANGE, MARKET 
PLACE, DEVIZES, SN10 1HS. 
 
Present: 
Cllr Philip Whitehead (Chairman), Cllr Paul Oatway QPM (Vice-Chairman), 
Cllr Dr Brian Mathew, Cllr Kelvin Nash, Cllr Tony Pickernell and Cllr Iain Wallis 
 
Also Present: 
Cllr Christopher Williams 
  

 
35. Apologies 

 
Apologies for absence were received from: 
 

 Cllr Stuart Wheeler 

 Cllr Sam Pearce-Kearney  
 

36. Minutes of the Previous Meeting 
 
Cllr Iain Wallis clarified that when he made an additional declaration in relation 
to his employment at the Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs, 
at the previous meeting that he was speaking in a personal capacity and not on 
behalf of the department. 
 
On the proposal of the Chairman, seconded by the Vice-Chairman, it was 
resolved to make the: 
 
Decision 
 
To approve the minutes of the previous meeting, held on 13 July 2023 as a 
true and correct record, subject to an amendment to the additional 
declaration by Cllr Wallis to confirm that he was speaking in a personal 
capacity.  
 

37. Declarations of Interest 
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

38. Chairman's Announcements 
 
There were no Chairman’s announcements.  
 

39. Public Participation 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



 
 
 

 
 
 

 
There was no public participation.  
 

40. Planning Appeals and Updates 
 
On the proposal of the Chairman, seconded by Cllr Tony Pickernell, it was: 
 
Resolved 
 
To note the report on completed and ending appeals for the period 30 
June to 25 August 2023.  
 

41. PL/2023/00207: Cross Keys Inn, Upper Chute, SP11 9ER 
 
Public Participation 
 

 Mr Tim Curran spoke in objection to the application. 

 Mr Mark Pettitt (Fowler Architecture and Planning) spoke in support of 
the application. 

 Dr Anna Moore spoke in support of the application. 

 Cllr Carolyn Wall, Chairman of Chute Parish Council, spoke in support of 
the application.  

 
 
The Senior Conservation and Planning Officer, Lynda King, introduced a report 
that recommended that the application for the demolition of existing buildings 
and erection of a detached dwelling with associated parking, turning, 
landscaping, private amenity space and access, be refused. Key considerations 
were stated to include principle of development, ecology impacts, heritage and 
design.  
 
It was explained that the proposed development site covered an area of 
approximately 0.3 hectares and was located within the conservation area of 
Upper Chute, a small village with no defined settlement boundary. The site was 
also located within the North Wessex Downs Area of Outstanding Natural 
Beauty.  
 
It was noted that there had been an attempt to list the former Cross Keys Inn, 
but that a decision was made by Historic England not to list the building in 
October 2019. Permission to change the use of the Cross Keys Inn from a 
public house to a single dwelling had been approved in December 2019, but a 
subsequent application for a new-build replacement dwelling had been refused.  
 
The Planning Officer explained that the existing Cross Keys Inn was a non-
designated heritage asset which made a positive contribution to the character of 
the Upper Chute Conservation Area. The applicant’s own heritage consultant 
had concluded that the existing building was not beyond economic repair.  
 
Members of the Committee then had the opportunity to ask technical questions 
of the officer. 

Page 6



 
 
 

 
 
 

 
In response to technical questions by the Committee, the Planning Officer 
clarified that the public footpath (PROWCHUT18) crossed the front of the site 
on a diagonal route would not be impacted by proposals. She was unable to 
confirm whether it would be more sustainable environmentally to demolish the 
existing structures and replace them with a more energy efficient building or 
insulate the existing buildings to a high standard.  
 
When asked about the designation of the existing property as a non-designated 
heritage asset, the Planning Officer advised that heritage assets could be non-
designated if they had local associations and formed part of the historic fabric of 
the area. The Cross Keys Inn was understood to date from the eighteenth 
century and Wiltshire Council’s Conservation Officer had objected to the 
proposals for its demolition. It was noted that the planning statement which 
accompanied the 2019 application to convert building to a residential dwelling 
had noted that the proposals had a positive heritage impact and would benefit 
the conservation area. It was emphasised that Wiltshire Council had a 
statutory duty under section 72 of the Planning (Listed buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 to pay special attention to the desirability of 
preserving or enhancing the character of a Conservation Area.  
 
Replying to a query about a survey submitted by the applicant, which noted that 
it was likely that there were no suitable foundations under the existing walls, the 
Planning Officer highlighted that Wiltshire Council’s Conservation Officer did 
believe that the existing building was capable of conversion. The survey 
undertaken by the applicant’s surveyor was a visual, rather than a detailed 
dimensional survey.  
 
Members of the public then had the opportunity to present their views to the 
Committee as detailed above. 
 
The Unitary Division Member, Cllr Christopher Williams, then spoke in support 
of the application.  
 
In response to the points raised by the public and Unitary Division Member, the 
Planning Officer reiterated that deterioration in the condition of the property was 
not a reason to grant permission to demolish the non-designated heritage asset. 
It was also highlighted that evidence that conversion works had materially 
commenced was provided in 2022. 
 
So the Committee had something to debate Cllr Dr Brian Mathew, seconded by 
Cllr Kelvin Nash, proposed that the application be approved, contrary to 
recommendations.  
 
A debate followed where the impact of the removal of the existing structure on 
the conservation area was discussed. Some members questioned the historical 
significance of the existing buildings. Other points raised included the relative 
environmental benefits of the retention and demolition of the exiting buildings.  
 

Page 7



 
 
 

 
 
 

The Planning Officer confirmed that if the Committee felt that there would be 
limited harm to the conservation area by the removal of a heritage asset then 
there needed to be public benefits to the proposals. In addition, she advised 
that Core Policy 57 of the Wiltshire Core Strategy (Ensuring High Quality 
Design and Place Shaping) was unlikely to be a reason for approval).  
 
Following the conclusion of the debate it was: 
 
Resolved 
 
 
That the application for the demolition of existing buildings and erection 
of a detached dwelling with associated parking, turning, landscaping, 
private amenity space and access, be GRANTED contrary to officer 
recommendation. 
 
REASON: In line with Paragraph 202 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework September 2023, it was felt that the development proposal 
would lead to less than substantial harm, and that this harm would be 
outweighed by the benefits that would come from the design of the 
building and securing the optimum viable use of the application site. 
 
 
Subject to the following conditions:  
 
1) Commencement of development 

 
The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 
three years from the date of this permission. 
 
REASON: To comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004. 
 
2) Approved Plans 

 
The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with 
the following approved plans:  
 
Site Plan – Drawing no. 200523-10 Rev C, received on 14th August 2023 
Block Plan – Drawing no. 200523-11 Rev C, received on 14th August 2023 
Plans and Elevations – Drawing no. 200523, received on 10th January 
2023 
 
REASON: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper 
planning. 
 
3) Materials to be approved 
 

Page 8



 
 
 

 
 
 

No development shall commence on site above slab level until the exact 
details and samples of the materials to be used for the external walls and 
roofs have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. Development shall be carried out in accordance with 
the approved details. 
 
REASON: The application contained insufficient information to enable this 
matter to be considered prior to granting planning permission and the 
matter is required to be agreed with the Local Planning Authority before 
development commences in order that the development is undertaken in 
an acceptable manner, in the interests of visual amenity and the character 
and appearance of the area. 
 
 
4) Permitted Development Rights to be removed 
 
Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) (England)Order 2015 (or any Order 
revoking or re- enacting or amending those Orders with or without 
modification), no development within Part 1, Classes A-H shall take place 
on the dwellinghouse(s) hereby permitted or within their curtilage. 
 
REASON: In the interests of the amenity of the area and to enable the 
Local Planning Authority to consider individually whether planning 
permission should be granted for additions, extensions or enlargements. 
 
 
5) Biodiversity Mitigation 
 
The development will be carried out in strict accordance with the 
following documents: 
• Section 7 of Ecological Impact Assessment. (LC Ecological Services, 
April 2023 Updated July 2023). 
• 2023.08.14 Revised Block Plan. Dwg No: 200523-11 rev C. (Fowler 
Architects Planning, Feb 2023) 
 
REASON: For the avoidance of doubt and for the protection, mitigation 
and enhancement of biodiversity. 
 
 
6) Water efficiency 
 
The overnight development hereby approved shall be designed to ensure 
it does not exceed 110 litres per person per day water consumption levels 
(which includes external water usage) and a water efficiency assessment 
should be submitted. Before the development is brought into use, a water 
efficiency report certifying that this standard has been achieved shall be 
submitted to the local planning authority for its written approval. 
 

Page 9



 
 
 

 
 
 

REASON: To ensure compliance with the prevailing mitigation strategy for 
nutrient neutrality in the water catchment within which this development 
is located. 
 
  
7) Wildlife enhancement 
 
No demolition or removal of trees or shrubs shall take place until full 
details of a Wildlife Protection and Enhancement Scheme have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. 
These details shall include: 
 
(i) Details of proposed measures that will be taken to avoid harm to 
wildlife, including timing of works to avoid nesting birds, and pre-
commencement checks for protected species including bats, birds, 
reptiles and amphibians. 
(ii) A plan specifying the location(s) and type(s) of feature(s) to enhance 
the site for biodiversity. 
(iii) Planting plan of habitats to enhance the site for biodiversity. 
 
REASON: To avoid adverse impacts on biodiversity. 
 
 
8) Construction method statement 
 
No development shall commence on site (including any works of 
demolition), until a Construction Method Statement, which shall include 
the following: 
  
 
 
a) the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors; 
b) loading and unloading of plant and materials; 
c) storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development; 
d) the erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative 
displays and facilities for public viewing, where appropriate; 
e) wheel washing facilities; 
f) measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction; 
g) a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition 
and construction works; and 
h) measures for the protection of the natural environment. 
i) hours of construction, including deliveries; 
 
has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning 
Authority. The approved Statement shall be complied with in full 
throughout the construction period. The development shall not be carried 
out otherwise than in accordance with the approved construction method 
statement. 
 

Page 10



 
 
 

 
 
 

REASON: The application contained insufficient information to enable this 
matter to be considered prior to granting planning permission and the 
matter is required to be agreed with the Local Planning Authority before 
development commences in order that the development is undertaken in 
an acceptable manner, to minimise detrimental effects to the 
neighbouring amenities, the amenities of the area in general, detriment to 
the natural environment through the risks of pollution and dangers to 
highway safety, during the construction phase. 
 
9) No burning on site 
 
There shall be no burning of any materials on site. 
 
REASON: In the interests of the amenities of local residents. 
 
  
 

42. Urgent items 
 
There were no urgent items. However, the Chairman noted that if the 
Committee held a meeting on 5 October 2023, it would be held in the Assembly 
Room at Devizes Town Hall, SN10 1BN. 
 

 
(Duration of meeting:  3.00  - 4.10 pm) 

 
The Officer who has produced these minutes is Matt Hitch of Democratic Services, 

direct line 01225 718059, e-mail matthew.hitch@wiltshire.gov.uk 
 

Press enquiries to Communications, direct line 01225 713114 or email 
communications@wiltshire.gov.uk 

 
 

Page 11

mailto:communications@wiltshire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Wiltshire Council   
Eastern Area Planning Committee 

5th October 2023 
Planning Appeals Received between 25/08/2023 and 22/09/2023 

Application 
No 

Site Location Parish Proposal DEL or 
COMM 

Appeal Type Officer 
Recommend 

Appeal 
Start Date 

Overturn 
at Cttee 

PL/2021/11594 The George & Dragon, 11 
High Street, Erlestoke, 
SN10 5TX 

Erlestoke Creation of a pub garden including 
construction of boundary fence and 
means of enclosure within the site, 
and associated landscaping; and 
installation of roof vents & 
extraction for the new commercial 
kitchen (retrospective). 

DEL Written 
Representations 

Refuse 06/09/2023 No 

PL/2021/11595 The George & Dragon, 11 
High Street, Erlestoke, 
SN10 5TX 

Erlestoke Erection of illuminated fascia 
signage to public house 
(retrospective), and to erect 
illuminated free standing sign for 
public house. 

DEL Written 
Representations 

Refuse 06/09/2023 No 

PL/2022/08682 Bypass Barn, Burbage, 
Marlborough, Wilts, SN8 
3FU 

Burbage Permission in principle for 
residential development of 1 no. 
dwelling (Use Class C3) 

DEL Written 
Representations 

Refuse 08/09/2023 No 

PL/2023/01749 Land Adj 29 Spin Hill, 
Market Lavington, Devizes, 
Wilts 

Market Lavington Change of use from agriculture to 
domestic use, retention of two 
shipping containers and 
construction of access 

DEL Written 
Representations 

Refuse 11/09/2023 No 

 
Planning Appeals Decided between 25/08/2023 and 22/09/2023 

Application No Site Location Parish Proposal DEL 
or 
COMM 

Appeal Type Officer 
Recommend 

Appeal 
Decision 

Decision 
Date 

Costs 
Awarded? 

PL/2022/06877 2 Ivy Cottage, Low 
Road, Little Cheverell, 
Devizes, SN10 4JX 

Little Cheverell New detached garage, turning 
zone and reconfigured steps up 
to existing cottage. 

DEL Householder 
Appeal 

Refuse Dismissed 12/09/2023 None 

 

P
age 13

A
genda Item

 6



T
his page is intentionally left blank



REPORT FOR EASTERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE Report No.  

Date of Meeting 5th October 2023  

Application Number PL/2023/05818 

Site Address Boomerang Stables, Crooked Soley, Chilton Foliat, RG17 0TL 

Proposal Re-use of former equestrian barn to create two dwellings, 

driveways, landscaping and related infrastructure. 

Erect a stable block within one of the gardens comprising 10 

stables, a tack room, store and hay room. Erect a barn and garage 

within the same curtilage. Erect a garage within the other curtilage 

(resubmission of PL/2022/08607) 

Applicant Addington Investments Ltd 

Town/Parish Council Chilton Foliat Parish Council  

Ward Aldbourne & Ramsbury (Cllr James Sheppard) 

Type of application Full Planning Permission   

Case Officer  David Millinship  

 
Reason for the application being considered by Committee: 
 
This application was ‘called-in’ by Cllr Sheppard for the following reason:  
 

 ‘Grey area’ over sustainability of design versus site location.   
 
 
1. Purpose of Report 
The purpose of the report is to assess the merits of the proposal against the policies of the 
development plan and other material considerations and to consider the recommendation that the 
application be approved. 
 
 
2. Report Summary 
The key issues for consideration are: 
 

 Principle of development; 

 Landscape and visual impact (including design) CP 51 & 57;  

 Impact on neighbour amenity; 

 Highways impact CP 61; 

 Environmental and ecological impacts CP 50. 

 
3. Site Description 
The application site is a roughly rectangular parcel of land which contains a cluster of buildings, 
an animal enclosure, and a dressage training area/outdoor arena. It abuts a much larger area of 
land to the north that accommodates the commercial enterprise known as Boomerang Stables 
(an equestrian centre with extensive facilities). The surrounding area is of a distinctively rural 
character, with narrow roads and large fields in an irregular pattern, with land predominantly in a 
mixture of equestrian and agricultural uses. The site is within the North Wessex Downs Area of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB).  

Page 15

Agenda Item 7



 
The southern intervening boundary of the site (shared with the public highway at East Soley Lane) 
is bounded by a substantial conifer hedge with an earth bund and native hedge running along the 
western intervening boundary. There are currently three access points into the application site (all 
vehicular). One is within the western intervening boundary (onto Solely Road), one almost central 
on the south side and the other at the south-eastern end of the site (both accessing into East 
Soley Lane). No public rights of way (PROW) cross the application site but there are nearby 
PROWs, including footpaths numbered CFOL5, CFOL9 and CFOL11, which all connect into the 
public highway network that skirts the western and southern boundaries of the site.  
 
 

 
Figure 1: Site Location with marked access points 
 

 
Figure 2: Proposed Site Block Plan 
 

Page 16



 
Figure 3: Elevations 
 

Page 17



 
Figure 4: Elevations 
 

Page 18



 
Figure 5: Ground Floor Plan 
 

 

Page 19



Figure 6: First-floor plan 
 
4. Planning History 
The following planning history is specific to the application site:  
 

PL/2022/08607 Re-use of former equestrian barn to create two dwellings, 
driveways, landscaping and related infrastructure. Erect a 
stable block within one of the gardens comprising 10 
stables, a tack room, store and hay room. Erect a barn and 
garage within the same curtilage. Erect a garage within the 
other curtilage.  

Withdrawn by the 
Applicant (27th January 
2023) 

20/06839/FUL Redevelopment of equestrian premises for the erection of 
a detached house, outbuildings, gardens and related 
infrastructure 

Dismissed at Appeal 
(4th November 2021) 

E/09/1244/FUL Retrospective application for erection of 34 stables. Approved with 
Conditions (16th 
September 2010) 

E/09/0834/FUL Retention of, and alterations to, hardstandings for parking 
vehicles and permanent cross country jumps. Formation of 
new vehicular access and driveway, and construction of 
lay-bys alongside public highway. Amendment of condition 
2 of application K/15244 to delete reference to West Soley 
Farm and to allow use of the schooling facilities by day 
visitors for schooling as opposed to competition purposes 
only. 

Approved with 
conditions (16th 
September 2010) 

E/09/0842/CLE Certificate of lawful development for existing hard standing 
for parked vehicles and permanent cross country jumps 
and associated works. Use of land for general 
keeping/schooling of horses, not in connection with the 
buildings at West Soley Farm, to which members of the 
public are admitted. 

Refused (30th 
September 2009) 

K/59477/F Retention of a timber framed office.  Approved with 
conditions (11th 
November 2008) 

K/57891/F Retention of permanent and semi-permanent schooling 
jumps and associated hardstanding. 

Refused (23rd June 
2008) 

K/15244 Change of use from agriculture and stud farm to agriculture 
and keeping and schooling of competition horses.  

Approved with 
conditions (16th January 
1995). 

K/81/1093 2 dwellings units, 23 loose boxes and livestock building.  Approved with 
conditions (21st June 
1982) 

 
 
The following planning history is related to the adjacent land (the majority also under the 
ownership of the applicant):  
 

14/02119/FUL Temporary permission for staff dwelling to serve equestrian 
business. 

Dismissed at Appeal 
(12th January 2015) 

E/2012/0977/FU
L 

Replacement of mobile home with temporary permission, 
with permanent log cabin.  

Dismissed at Appeal 
(19th July 2013) 

E/09/0451/FUL Use of land for stationing of mobile home. Approved with 
conditions (19th August 
2009) 

K/45499 The provision of single storey staff accommodation.  Refused (19th June 
2003) 

K/59341/F Erection of dwelling. Refused (19th October 
2008) 

K/54190/F Stationing of temporary mobile home for groom. Refused (13th June 
2006) 

K/41548 The erection of a new two storey house for owner and staff, 
plus office and garage. New stable block. 

Refused (23rd August 
2001) Page 20



K/33674 Renewal of K/18300 - Revision to siting and design of 
residential accommodation previously approved, and addition 
of garage extension & riders gymnasium extension. 

Approved with 
conditions (7th January 
1997) 

K/18300 Revision to siting and design of residential accommodation 
previously approved (K/16984) and addition of garage 
extension & riders gymnasium extension. 

Approved with 
conditions (2nd January 
1992) 

K/16984 Equestrian training facility with residential accommodation.  Approved with 
conditions (20th June 
1991) 

 
 
 
5. The Proposal 
The proposal seeks full planning permission for the conversion of an existing equestrian barn into 

2 no. self-contained dwellings along with the construction of driveways, site landscaping and 

related infrastructure. The development would involve the change of use of the building into a 

residential use (planning use class C3) and a large area of the adjacent land into domestic garden 

curtilage. The dwellings would be identical in floorplan layout (albeit in mirrored layouts) with the 

existing building split in two equally sized units. Five bedrooms would be provided to both units 

at first-floor level with the potential for additional bedrooms at ground floor level (the submitted 

plans showing study/snug rooms sufficiently sized to accommodate bedrooms).  

Whilst the building would be equally split into two units, the surrounding land proposed to be 
changed into domestic garden curtilage would not be equally divided. The eastern unit (referred 
to as Unit 1) would have access to a garden area of approximately 1,500 sq.m including a 
detached double garage within the south-eastern corner of the plot. Access to Unit A would be 
from the existing south-eastern access point (remodelled with new gates).  
 
The domestic curtilage area proposed to serve Unit 2 (the western unit) would occupy an area of 
approximately 8,100 sq.m with access from the western edge of the plot. A stable block is 
proposed to be erected within the Unit 2 curtilage comprising 10 stables, a tack room, store and 
hay room. It is also proposed to erect a barn and garage within the same curtilage.  
 
The details of the proposals are identical to previous planning application ref: PL/2022/08607. The 
submitted information has been expanded on by the architects (in the Design and Access 
Statement) to attempt to justify the sustainable nature of the development’s design.  
 
   
6. Planning Policy 
 
National Context: 
 
National Planning Policy Framework 2023 (NPPF) 
 
Planning Practice Guidance (guidance on the policies contained within the NPPF) 
 
Local Context: 
 
Wiltshire Core Strategy (WCS)  
 

• Core Policy 1 – Settlement strategy;  
• Core Policy 2 – Delivery strategy;   
• Core Policy 14 – Spatial strategy for the Marlborough community area; 
• Core Policy 41 – Sustainable construction and low carbon energy; 
• Core Policy 44 – Rural exception sites;  
• Core Policy 45 – Meeting Wiltshire’s housing needs;  
• Core Policy 48 – Supporting rural life; 
• Core Policy 50 – Biodiversity & Geodiversity;  
• Core Policy 51 – Landscape;  

Page 21



• Core Policy 56 – Contaminated land;  
• Core Policy 57 – Ensuring high quality design and place shaping; 
• Core Policy 60 – Sustainable transport;  
• Core Policy 61 - Transport and development;  
• Core Policy 64 – Demand management.  

 
7. Consultations 
 
Archaeology (Wiltshire Council) – No objections.  

Due to modern development at the site, it would be unlikely for any groundworks associated with the 

development to expose any archaeological features and/or deposits.  
 
“The proposed building is required for the full implementation of the proposed farming practice at 
the unit.” 
 
Chilton Foliat Parish Council – No objections subject to conditions.  
The Parish Council has no objection to the principle of the proposed conversion. However, the 
following comments were made with regards to the need for planning conditions should the local 
planning authority support the development: 
 

…all the facilities (solar panels, battery storage, satellite broadband, independent 
water supply etc.) are vital. As a condition of any approval, all construction traffic 
MUST be required to approach and leave the site towards the north to avoid 
causing damage to Soley Lane towards the B4192 which is very narrow and has 
verges which have, in the past, suffered damage from excessive heavy traffic. 
This is the route the current Boomerang Stables traffic is required to take. 

 
Drainage (Wiltshire Council) – Objection. 
An objection was made due to lack of information relating to the surface water disposal system 
design and how this would impact upon the local network (including in the event of system 
exceedance).  
 
Ecology (Wiltshire Council) – No objection subject to conditions. 
 
Conditions to secure provision of new bat roosts (in accordance with proposals) and 
implementation of the ecological mitigation measures and site planting scheme.  
 
Highways (Wiltshire Council) – Objections.  
An ‘in principle’ objection has been lodged. It is advised that any residential unit on the site will 
be wholly reliant on the use of the private vehicle. The adjacent road network does not provide 
any pedestrian facilities to encourage non-motor vehicle use. Local services such as 
employment, schooling and shopping are remote, once again encouraging the use of the private 
vehicle.  
 
Further advice is given with regards to access design and use of conditions should the LPA 
support the scheme.  
 
 
8. Publicity 

The application has been advertised by way of writing directly to adjoining landowners and 
relevant consultees.  
 
One response to the public consultation was received. The full comment can be read on the 
council’s website. For ease of reference, the material considerations relating to the current 
proposal are bullet pointed below:  
 
Objections:  
 

- The building is not redundant and remains in use for its intended purpose; 
Page 22



- Should the planning permission be granted there is concern a future planning application 
will seek a like-for-like replacement of the commercial building;  

- Comments made in response to planning application PL/2022/08607 are also 
referenced.  

 
 
9. Planning Considerations      
Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and section 38(6) of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 require that the determination of planning applications must be 
made in accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise. 
 
Housing land supply and status of the development plan 
Further to the above, paragraph 11 of the NPPF states that plans and decisions should apply a 
presumption in favour of sustainable development. For decision taking this means: 
 

c) approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development 
plan without delay; or 
d) where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which 
are most important for determining the application are out-of-date1, granting 
permission unless: 
 
i. the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of 
particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development 
proposed2; or 
ii. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this Framework 
taken as a whole. 

 
The NPPF advises that for applications involving the provision of housing, development plan 
policies can be considered to be out-of-date in situations where the local planning authority cannot 
demonstrate a five-year housing land supply (5yrHLS). This excludes development proposals with 
certain impacts and/or sites within sensitive areas (including development within an AONB). As 
the site is within an AONB it must first be considered whether the proposed development would 
conflict with the NPPF policies relevant to the protection of the natural environment.  
 
NPPF para. 174 states that: 
 

Great weight should be given to conserving and enhancing landscape and scenic 
beauty in National Parks, the Broads and Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty 
which have the highest status of protection in relation to these issues. 

 
The scheme remains broadly the same as that proposed in 2022 (ref: PL/2022/08607 - withdrawn 
by the applicant) which was submitted as a revised proposal following planning application 
20/06839/FUL being dismissed at appeal in Nov’21. The 2020 application was broadly the same 
application site and was for the demolition of the existing equestrian building, erection of a six-
bedroom detached dwelling, with an associated store/barn building and stables. The LPAs 
assessment and subsequent appeal established that no irreplaceable habitat would be affected 
and the impact of the development on the protected characteristics of the AONB would be 

                                                           
1 The NPPF advises that this includes, for applications involving the provision of housing, situations where the local 
planning authority cannot demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable housing sites (with the appropriate buffer, 
as set out in NPPF para. 74); or where the Housing Delivery Test indicates that the delivery of housing was 
substantially below (less than 75% of) the housing requirement over the previous three years. 
2 The NPPF confirms that the policies referred to are those in the Framework (rather than those in development 
plans) relating to: habitats sites (and those sites listed in paragraph 181) and/or designated as Sites of Special 
Scientific Interest; land designated as Green Belt, Local Green Space, an Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty, a 
National Park (or within the Broads Authority) or defined as Heritage Coast; irreplaceable habitats; 
designated heritage assets (and other heritage assets of archaeological interest referred to in NPPF footnote 68); 
and areas at risk of flooding or coastal change.  

Page 23



neutral, despite the establishment of a distinctively domestic visual appearance to the 
development.  
 
The proposed conversion (rather than demolition and construction of a new building) would 
have a marginally lesser visual impact but would still involve the creation of a distinctively 
domestic character through alterations to the building and landscaping of the surrounding plot(s) 
and, the use of a high number of rooflights within the proposed design is a concern in terms of 
the ability for the tranquillity and darkness. However, the Inspector’s conclusions are maintained 
since they remain valid, namely that the proposal would have a neutral impact upon the 
tranquillity and scenic beauty of the AONB (further detailed assessment is provided within the 
landscape and ecology sections of the report below). The principle of the proposal is not 
considered to conflict with the aims of NPPF para. 11(d)(i).  
 
In this case, the LPA has a 5yrHLS of around 4.6yrs3, meaning that the housing delivery policies 
of the development plan (the WCS) may be out-of-date. Further consideration of the principle of 
the development is therefore required to be undertaken in line with the wider policies of the 
NPPF (with regard to the housing delivery policies of the development plan as a material 
consideration). The current planning policy situation, at both national and local level remains as 
it was in 2020 when the principle of the new dwelling was considered. At that time, the Inspector 
had considered that the spatial strategy of the WCS (particularly that relating to the Marlborough 
Community Area) was consistent with the approach taken by the NPPF (broadly, to ensure that 
new housing is provided in the most sustainable locations, balanced against the housing needs 
of a particular area). As such, the Inspector afforded significant weight to the policies of the 
WCS.  
 
As no material changes to the planning policies (those most relevant to the proposal) have 
occurred since the 2020 appeal, the relevant policies of the WCS can be afforded significant 
weight in the assessment of the current planning application.  
 
Principle of development 
The existing building was erected to support operations associated with a commercial equestrian 
enterprise. Whilst a commercial equestrian use is considered to be a sui generis use4 it can be 
accepted as being an employment-generating use within the wider rural area. As such, there are 
matters to consider with regard to the acceptability of the location for the proposed residential 
units as well as the impact of the proposal upon the wider rural economy and employment.   
 
The proposal seeks to create two open-market dwellings (C3 use class) by converting an existing 
building. In broad terms, NPPF para. 78 seeks to support some development to provide new 
housing within rural areas as follows: 
 

In rural areas, planning policies and decisions should be responsive to local 
circumstances and support housing developments that reflect local needs. Local 
planning authorities should support opportunities to bring forward rural exception 
sites that will provide affordable housing to meet identified local needs.  

 
Core Policies 1 and 2 of the WCS together set out a spatial strategy (along with indictive numbers 
for housing delivery) to ensure that development within certain community areas is sustainable 
and meets the needs of those areas. Core policy 14 further sets out the development needs/aims 
for the Marlborough Community Area (which encompasses the application site) including 
recognising settlements in rural areas where new housing development may be appropriate. 
Outside of sustainable settlements Core Policy 44 allows for the allocation of, or granting of 
planning permission for, small sites comprising affordable housing only as an exception to normal 
policies. Core Policy 48 seeks to support rural life and sets out certain criteria relevant to the 
conversion of existing rural buildings. The combined policy approach of the WCS is consistent 
with the aims of the NPPF so can be afforded significant weight as a material planning 
consideration.  
 

                                                           
3 As reported within the council’s most recent Housing Land Supply Statement (May 2023). 
4 Under the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (as amended).  

Page 24



The proposal is not for affordable housing but would create two substantial open-market 
dwellings. Crooked Soley is a small cluster of only a few dwellings and commercial premises 
(mostly equestrian businesses). Under the WCS spatial strategy, it is not considered to be a 
‘settlement’ capable of supporting new housing. Furthermore, there is no evidence of any housing 
need within this area, particularly for the type of large dwellings proposed by the scheme.  
 
However, the WCS recognises that conversion of rural buildings into alternative commercial 
use(s) may sometimes be supported if they have become redundant. CP48 only supports 
conversion of rural buildings into residential uses where the residential use is needed for a rural 
worker or there is clear evidence that commercial reuse is not a practical proposition, and the 
below criteria is met:  
 

i. The building(s) is/are structurally sound and capable of conversion without 
major rebuilding, and with only necessary extension or modification which 
preserves the character of the original building. 
ii. The use would not detract from the character or appearance of the landscape 
or settlement and would not be detrimental to the amenities of residential areas.  
iii. The building can be served by adequate access and infrastructure. 
iv. The site has reasonable access to local services. 
v. The conversion or re-use of a heritage asset would lead to its viable long term 
safeguarding. 

 
In isolated locations, CP48 confirms that the re-use of redundant or disused buildings for 
residential purposes may be permitted where justified by special circumstances, in line with 
national policy. The site is considered to be in an unsustainable location, but is not isolated (i.e. it 
has other surrounding development, can be accessed by private motor vehicles and has 
connections to utilities such as running water, electricity etc.). Therefore, the exceptions provided 
for by the NPPF (para. 80) are less relevant than the main criteria of CP48. In any case, it is not 
considered that any of the exceptions set out within para. 80 are relevant to the proposal. Para. 
80(c) provides the following exception: 
 

…the development would re-use redundant or disused buildings and enhance its 
immediate setting… 

 
The applicant’s evidence has not conclusively demonstrated that the building is redundant or 
disused but, more crucially the proposal would not enhance the immediate setting and would give 
rise to a low-level of harm to the special characteristics of the AONB (not sufficient level of harm 
to warrant a reason for refusal but harmful nonetheless – see landscape section of the report 
below).   
 
In terms of CP48 criteria i, no firm evidence has been submitted to confirm whether the building 
is structurally capable of conversion. However, the existing building is a common type of modern 
utilitarian steel frame barn with concrete block walls at lower level topped with timber clad walls 
and a steel profile sheet roof. It is proposed to maintain the general appearance of the barn with 
the black timber cladding and profiled roof sheeting used in the conversion. Internally, it is 
reasonable to expect that a mezzanine floor, utilities, and insulation (required to meet base-level 
building regulations) could be installed within the existing structure. Similarly, the new fenestration 
openings required (whilst relatively high in number) would appear capable of being created 
without the need for significant structural alterations and the character of the building would not 
be substantially changed (within public views). As such, whilst no structural survey report has 
been submitted, it is reasonable to expect that the modern building would be capable of 
conversion into the proposed units.  
 
Criteria ii (similar to the brief AONB assessment above) is not considered to be substantially in 
conflict with the proposal. The character of the site would be changed to a much more domestic 
appearance but given the topography of the site, existing boundary enclosures and that the 
broadly rural/utilitarian character of the existing building would be preserved the visual impact 
would be neutral. The site has existing accesses to the public highway that can be repurposed, 
and utilities appear to be able to be secured/repurposed for a domestic use so no conflict with 
criteria iii would occur. The proposal does not involve the conversion/reuse of a heritage asset so 

Page 25



criteria v does not apply.  
 
Criteria iv is of most relevance since it relates to the sustainability of the site location. WCS Core 
Policies 60 and 61 are also relevant to the sustainability of the site location (by a range of 
sustainable modes of transport) so have significant weight in addition to CP48. The site is not 
near shops, schools or other facilities required for the type of day-to-day living expected to be 
supported by these large residential units. The nearest school is approximately 3.5km from the 
site (approx. 45min walk) with shops providing convenience goods located around 6.5km away in 
Ramsbury (approx. 1hr 30mins walk).  
 
Furthermore, local roads are often narrow, with high speed limits, no street lighting, footways or 
cycle lanes. It is noted that para. 105 of the NPPF recognises that opportunities to maximise 
sustainable transport solutions will vary between urban and rural areas. However, this does not 
negate the need for new housing sites to be well-connected to a range of local services to support 
day-to-day living. In this case, future occupiers of the site would rely heavily on the use of private 
motor vehicles to access essential services and alternative modes of transport (such as walking 
or cycling) are highly likely to put residents at risk or would simply be impractical due to the 
routes/distances required to be travelled.  
 
The previous appeal decision on the site (dated November 2021) for a new build dwelling stated 
that: 
 

...considering the very limited range of services and facilities near the appeal site, 
and the distance to the nearest village, it is highly likely that the intended future 
occupiers of the proposal would use private vehicles to access these. Indeed, the 
appellant has stated that it is a fact of life that the resident population uses motor 
vehicles to travel between Crooked Soley and nearby settlements. This would 
also be the case if modes of transport were split, by the future residents taking 
buses running from nearby villages, for example. 

 
The assessment of access to services and facilities does not change because the current 
proposal is a conversion rather than a new build. Furthermore, this is a proposal for two large 
dwellings as opposed to the single dwelling previously dismissed at appeal. As such, and in light 
of the Inspector’s previous conclusions (which I consider remain of substantial relevance to the 
current assessment), it remains the case that the site does not have reasonable access to local 
services.  
 
The applicant notes that there have been changes in societal trends e.g. home working, home 
deliveries and electric vehicles, the Inspector in the above-mentioned appeal decision also had 
regard to this aspect (as it was previously argued by the applicant) concluding the following: 
 

...the use of sustainable transport modes, such as ultra-low and zero emission 
vehicles, cannot be mandated, and the other factors mentioned will very much 
depend on personal choices. As such, considering the poor accessibility of the 
site to services and facilities, it is necessary to take a precautionary approach, 
meaning that the significant use of internal combustion engine-based private 
vehicles by future occupiers must be considered to be a real possibility. 

 
The LPA agrees with the above conclusions and therefore does not consider the commentary by 
the applicants on this matter overcomes the significant concerns over the location of the site. 
Whilst Building Regulations require new EV charging points, and planning permissions can 
include conditions requiring them to be installed, as mentioned above, the LPA cannot mandate 
that the occupants of the dwelling use an EV car. With regards to electric bikes, it is less an issue 
of the distance in this case, but more the road conditions that make cycling an unattractive 
proposition here (narrow 60mph, unlit and unpaved roads). 
 
The applicant has noted that a current Government consultation (White Paper) is seeking 
comments on potential amendments to the change of use (Part 3) permitted development rights 
provided by the General Permitted Development Order (GPDO), to include equestrian buildings. 
The consultation currently has no weight in planning assessments and (at the time of writing) no 

Page 26



change of use permitted development rights are available for buildings in equestrian use. 
Furthermore, should the GPDO be amended in the future, it is highly likely that any permitted 
development rights awarded to equestrian buildings will be subject to certain provisions, 
limitations and conditions, likely including the need for a developer to apply to the LPA for prior 
approval. This assessment must be undertaken in line with the policy advice of the NPPF and 
relevant policies of the development plan (WCS).  
 
Therefore, it is concluded that the proposed development would not provide a suitable location 
for new residential development, having regard to the accessibility of services and facilities. The 
proposal conflicts with Core Policies 1, 2 and 14 of the WCS which collectively establish the 
development strategy for the area, including with respect to proposals outside the defined limits 
of development. It would also conflict with Core Policies 60 and 61 which collectively provide that, 
amongst other things, new development should be located and designed to reduce the need to 
travel particularly by private car, and to encourage the use of sustainable transport alternatives. 
It would also fail to accord with the NPPF, which seeks to promote sustainable transport. 
 
 
 
Design and Visual Impact 
The building to be converted would largely retain its utilitarian character and form with no additions 
or extensions proposed. External material will be retained with white render applied over the 
(currently painted) blockwork walls. Understandably, new windows and doors are proposed to 
provide sufficient levels of natural light to internal areas. In this regard, the proposal includes a 
significant amount of rooflights which are uncharacteristic and overtly domestic in form - albeit 
they are on the elevation facing away from the roadside.  
 
Within each dwelling there would be more than sufficient space to enable reasonable standards 
of living to be attained (subject to the creation of new fenestration openings to provide light) and 
within the wider plots a generous amount of space would be provided for parking, turning and 
private amenity space. Conditions could be imposed to control external materials and the removal 
of permitted development (PD) rights for extensions and alterations. 
 
The proposal would incorporate stables and a barn of a broadly agricultural character with 
appropriate materials (despite being proposed to be used as ancillary domestic buildings), thereby 
maintaining some of the equestrian/rural character of the site. On balance, the outbuildings 
(including the garages) are considered to be acceptable in terms of visual impact.  
 
On balance, the scheme is considered to comply with the design standards expected by Core 
Policy 57 of the WCS. 
 
Turning to visual matters, the Inspector stated the following on the previous appeal decision on 
the site: 
 

Due to the relatively small scale of the proposal in its wider context and 
considering that despite the site’s elevated position the proposed buildings would 
not appear particularly prominent when viewed from further afield, the proposal 
would have a limited visual impact on the wider landscape. 

 
Although a different scheme (a new build), it did incorporate a tennis court, pool house, barn, 
garage and stables, with large curtilage, landscaped gardens and an orchard. This is a relatively 
comparable level of development to the current scheme but, the Appeal scheme did not include 
the extensive array of roof lights that the current scheme does. Whilst the LPA may be able to 
conclude that during light hours the proposal would have a neutral impact on the landscape 
character and scenic qualities of the AONB (and area in general), the same cannot be said at 
night. The site will maintain the existing boundary vegetation and bunding along with additional 
planting. So, it will have a very similar visual impact to the current set-up (within public views) 
where limited intervisibility is apparent during daylight hours. At night, however, the upward light 
spill from roof lights, in an area where there is little light spill from buildings and no street lighting, 
could have an adverse impact on the tranquillity of the AONB. 
 

Page 27



The need to protect against intrusion from light pollution is a key component of landscape 
considerations under Core Policy 51 (point vii.). Paragraph 7.15 of the North Wessex Downs 
AONB Management Plan states that 
 

The sense of remoteness and tranquillity is fundamental to the character of the 
North Wessex Downs AONB. It is central to the enjoyment and appreciation of 
the landscape. Dark night skies in the AONB contrast dramatically with 
surrounding urban areas. The absence of artificial light allows the full majesty of 
the night skies and stars to be appreciated unimpeded by the night time glow of 
our major urban areas. 

 
This is reinforced within the aims of point vii. of WCS Core Policy 51 and paragraphs 174, 176 
and 185 of the NPPF which seek to limit the impact of light pollution on intrinsically dark 
landscapes and the scenic beauty of AONBs.  
 
A key threat to the AONB landscape (see paragraph 7.37 of the Management Plan) is the impact 
on dark skies from lighting schemes that are poorly designed and directed where there is usually 
few planning controls to mitigate. The LPA would be unable to control the spill of lighting from the 
many roof lights that are proposed in the northeastern roof slope. However, the AONB 
Management Plan mainly references concerns over high-powered external lighting (types of 
which may not always require planning permission and may already be present within the wider 
Boomerang Stables commercial yard. Accordingly, it is considered the scheme would give rise to 
some harm due to the potential for increased light spill at night. However, given that the light 
would be from internal areas (not high-powered external lighting) it is considered the overall 
impact would not cause harm to the tranquillity of the AONB or its dark skies.  
 
Heritage Impacts 
On the previous appeal, it was common ground between both parties that the proposal would not 
affect the setting or significance of West Soley Farmhouse (a Grade II listed building). Given the 
relatively comparable nature of the current scheme, the same conclusions are drawn here. 
 
Neighbour Amenity 
Due to the separation distances involved, no neighbours stand to be adversely affected by the 
proposals by reason of loss of light, privacy or overbearing impacts. 
 
With regard to the amenity of future occupants, it is considered that reasonable standards are 
achievable in line with the requirements of Core Policy 57. Although in reasonably close proximity 
to an existing equestrian enterprise, an element of buyer beware is attached here i.e. one should 
be aware of this use upon purchase of the property. It is also noted that there are restrictions on 
the operation of Boomerang Stables to protect the amenity of nearby residents which would apply 
to these new properties. 
 
Highway Safety 
The local highway authority (LHA) has concerns over the location of the site with regard to 
sustainability. This issue has already been addressed in the principle of development section 
above, but equally applies in this section. Core Policy 60 provides that the Council will use its 
planning powers to help reduce the need to travel particularly by private car. Core Policy 61 
requires that new development should be located and designed to reduce the need to travel 
particularly by private car, and to encourage the use of sustainable transport alternatives.  
 
Whilst accepting that the application of these policies needs to take into account paragraph 103 
of the NPPF, which advises that opportunities to maximise sustainable transport solutions will 
vary between urban and rural areas, in light of previous comments made and those of the 
Highways Officer, there is a clear conflict with the aims of Core Policy 60 & 61 in this case. There 
are very few facilities in proximity to the site and within the nearest village of Chilton Foliat (3km) 
and there are no reasonable alternatives to the use of the private car to cater for the day-to-day 
needs of future residents.  
 
Aside from the principle issue, the LHA have no concerns with the accesses that would serve the 
two dwellings, subject to the conditions to ensure they are designed and maintained in a safe and 

Page 28



suitable manner. 
 
Ecology 
During the 2022 application the Council’s Ecologist requested submission of additional 
information that was subsequently submitted. Further comments confirmed the Ecologist had no 
objections subject to conditions to control external lighting, compliance with the 
recommendations/mitigation measures of the submitted surveys and to secure the installation of 
the proposed bat boxes. If the application were to be approved, such conditions would be 
considered reasonable and necessary and would, ensure no conflict with the aims of Core Policy 
50 of the WCS. 
 
Drainage and Flood Risk 
Records available to the council confirm the site is within an area at very low risk of river, surface 
and ground water flooding. Despite this, Core Policy 67 of the WCS seeks to ensure: 
 

All new development will include measures to reduce the rate of rainwater run-
off and improve rainwater infiltration to soil and ground (sustainable urban 
drainage) unless site or environmental conditions make these measures 
unsuitable. 

 
The current application was accompanied by a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) and a drainage 
strategy (that is similar to that proposed previously for the appeal for the new dwelling). The initial 
details have been reviewed by the council’s Drainage Engineer who has requested additional 
information and further assessment to ensure that surface water can be appropriately managed 
on a day-to-day basis and in the event of a 1 in 100-year flooding event (plus climate change 
variable). The applicant has provided additional details that are awaiting review by the Drainage 
Engineer (at the time of writing). However, it is not considered necessary (at this stage) to agree 
full system details as technical approval could take place in accordance with a suitably worded 
planning condition (should the principle of the development be supported by the LPA).  
 
Public Benefits & Planning Balance 
The proposal would generate some public benefits in terms of the provision of two new housing 
units (towards the council’s 5yrHLS). The latest Housing Land Supply Statement (base date May 
2022) shows that the Marlborough Community Area (outside of Marlborough Town) to which this 
site lies has already met its indicative housing requirements by an excess of 10 dwellings. Whilst 
not a ceiling figure, it provides no support for further housing in the area. Furthermore, the 
proposal would deliver two large 5-bedroom dwellings where demand within the community area 
is at the more affordable end of the spectrum. Notably, 3-bedroom dwellings are in the highest 
demand - both affordable and open-market. In light of the above, limited weight is attached to this 
benefit.  
 
Some short-term employment and economic benefits through the construction phase. In line with 
Para. 81 of the NPPF that significant weight should be placed on the need to support economic 
growth and productivity, this benefit can be given some limited positive weight in the overall 
balance.  
 
The design of the scheme would incorporate measures to ensure the dwellings were resilient to 
climate change (use of solar panels, modern insulation, new surface water drainage measures 
etc.) as well as ensuring that high-speed broadband was secured to enable modern, high-speed 
communication. Whilst these design measures could be secured by a planning condition, the 
benefits delivered are not considered to be substantially in excess of those that would be required 
to meet basic building regulations (the use of solar panels may go over B.Regs requirements but 
other measures would be relatively basic requirements). The LPA would also have no control over 
the future use of the dwellings (i.e. whether residents worked from home or not) and, in any case, 
regular access to other essential services (not just employment) would be required. These design 
measures can only be afforded limited positive weight in the overall balance. 
 
However, the above report has confirmed that the WCS spatial strategy the policies relating to 
the provision of new housing are consistent with the aims of the NPPF so can be given significant 
weight. The proposal has been found to conflict with the aims of the NPPF that aim to ensure that 

Page 29



new housing is provided in appropriate locations to meet local needs, where future occupiers 
would have access to a arrange of essential services. Further to this, the proposed development 
does not benefit from any of the rural exceptions set out within the WCS or NPPF.  
 
The harm that would be caused by the development in this location is considered to substantially 
outweigh the public benefits expected to be generated. On balance, the development is 
considered to be unacceptable and contrary to Core Policies 1, 2, 14, 48, 60 and 61 and the 
planning policy advice of the NPPF.  
 
S106 contributions/CIL 
The development would be CIL liable. No s.106 contributions are considered necessary. 
 
10. Conclusion  
The proposed development conflicts with the aims of Core Policies 1, 2, 14, 48, 60 and 61 of the 
Wiltshire Core Strategy and, if approved would lead to a distortion of the spatial strategy of the 
development plan (that is consistent with the planning policy advice of the National Planning 
Policy Framework).  
 
No policy or other material planning considerations to support the scheme have been identified 
and it is concluded the development would not provide any significant improvements to the 
economic, social or environmental conditions of the area. It would not, therefore, be sustainable 
development for which the NPPF para. 11(d) presumption in favour applies.  The planning 
application should therefore be refused.  
 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
That the application be REFUSED for the following reason: 
 
1 – The proposed development would result in the creation of two large open-market five-bedroom 
dwellings, that are not considered to meet the circumstances of rural exception housing, would 
not meet any identified local need and would be located in an area that cannot provide reasonable 
access to essential services and facilities. The proposal conflicts with the development strategy 
for the area as set out within Core Policies 1, 2, 14 and 48 of the adopted Wiltshire Core Strategy. 
It would also fail to accord with the planning policy advice of paragraphs 79 and 80 of the National 
Planning Policy Framework, which seek to locate rural housing where it would respond to local 
circumstances and reflect local needs unless exception policies apply.  
 
2 – The application site is in a location that cannot provide reasonable access to services and 
facilities, where the occupants of the development would have few options for sustainable 
transport alternatives and would be heavily reliant on the use of private motor vehicle transport 
contrary to Core Policies 60 and 61 of the adopted Wiltshire Core Strategy and the planning policy 
advice of the National Planning Policy Framework.  
 
Informatives: 
 
The application has been considered in line with paragraph 38 of the NPPF that: 
 

Local planning authorities should approach decisions on proposed development 
in a positive and creative way. They should use the full range of planning tools 
available, including brownfield registers and permission in principle, and work 
proactively with applicants to secure developments that will improve the 
economic, social and environmental conditions of the area. Decision-makers at 
every level should seek to approve applications for sustainable development 
where possible. 

 
The application is not considered to provide any improvements to the economic, social or 
environmental conditions of the area. The applicant has been kept up-to-date with the assessment 
and has been given opportunities to provide additional information and responses to the case 
officer’s correspondence. 

Page 30



 
 
 
 
 
 

  

 
 
 

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	6 Planning Appeals and Updates
	7 PL/2023/05818: Boomerang Stables, Crooked Soley, Chilton Foliat, RG17 0TL
	PL.2023.05818 - Location Plan




